
 
 

 
PO Box 47990 • Olympia, Washington • 98504-7990 

Phone: 360-236-4110 • • Email: healthequity@sboh.wa.gov • Web: www.healthequity.wa.gov 
 

Draft Minutes of the Governor’s Interagency Council on Health Disparities 
September 15, 2016 

University of Puget Sound, Wheelock Student Union Rotunda 
N 15th Street and N Alder Street, Tacoma, WA 98406 

 
HDC members present:
Gail Brandt 
Marietta Bobba 
Nora Coronado 
Vazaskia Crockrell 
Emma Medicine White Crow 
Mona Johnson 
Diane Klontz 

Stephen Kutz 
Frankie Manning 
Paj Nandi 
Millie Piazza 
Lori Lee Wada 
Greg Williamson

 
HDC members absent: 
Kim Eads 
Willie Frank 

Sara Franklin 
Nova Gattman 

 
HDC Staff present:
Melanie Hisaw, Executive Assistant 
Christy Hoff, Health Policy Advisor 

Kelie Kahler, Communications Manager 
Alex Montaño, Health Policy Analyst 

 
Guests and Other Participants: 
Lynn Abegglen, Community Member 
Rex Brown, Department of Social and Health 
Services 

Alice Coil, University of Puget Sound 
Jinyoung Englund, Community Member 
Shareka Fortier, Multicare 
Charissa Fotinos, Health Care Authority 
Patricia Gepert, Washington Association of 
Community and Migrant Health Centers 

Dexter Gordon, University of Puget Sound 
Joomi Kim, Korean Community Service Center 

Patty McDonald, Department of Social and 
Health Services 

Al Ratcliff, Community Advocate 
Elena Safariants, Health Care Authority 
Jamilia Sherls, Multicare 
Deb Sosa, Washington Health Benefits 
Exchange 
Cathy Tashiro, Community Member 
Curt Williams, Service Employees International 
Union

 
Emma Medicine White Crow, Council Chair, called the public meeting to order at 1:05 p.m. and read 
from a prepared statement (on file). She asked Council members, staff, guests, and members of the 
public to introduce themselves. 
 
1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion: Approve September 15, 2016 agenda 
Motion/Second: Vazaskia Crockrell/Steven Kutz. Approved unanimously. 
 
Stephen Kutz, Council Member, asked to discuss the Blue Ribbon Commission on Children and 
Families and its responsibility for recommending an organizational structure for a new department 

mailto:healthequity@sboh.wa.gov
http://www.healthequity.wa.gov/


 Governor’s Interagency Council on Health Disparities 
Draft Minutes – September 15, 2016 

 
 

 
PO Box 47990 • Olympia, Washington • 98504-7990 

Phone: 360/236-4110 • Fax: 360/236-4088 • Email: wsboh@doh.wa.gov • Web: healthequity.wa.gov  

2  

focused on children and families. Chair Medicine White Crow suggested they could add that 
discussion during agenda item 11, Council Member Comments and Updates.   
 
 

2. ADOPTION OF MAY 11, 2016  MEETING MINUTES  
Motion: Approve May 11, 2016 minutes  
Motion/Second: Frankie Manning/Lori Wada. Approved unanimously. 

 
 
3. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION TO THE RACE AND PEDAGOGY INSTITUTE 

Vazaskia Crockrell, Council Member, introduced Dr. Dexter Gordon, Director of African American 
Studies and the Race and Pedagogy Institute at the University of Puget Sound. Dr. Gordon 
welcomed the Council to the University of Puget Sound on behalf of President Crawford, noting 
that he was the first African American president of the University. He gave his presentation (on file 
at Tab 3). He talked about the history of the Race and Pedagogy Institute and discussed how 
disparities in any sector are related to issues of equity, access, and fairness. He invited Council 
members to the next Race and Pedagogy National Conference in October 2018.  
 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COUNCIL BUSINESS 
Christy Curwick Hoff, Council Staff, introduced Alex Montaño, the new Health Impact Review 
Analyst for the Board and Council. She shared that Paj Nandi, Council Member, would be 
representing the Department of Health on the Council and Gail Brandt, Council Member, is the 
alternate. She and Council members acknowledged Member Brandt for her outstanding service. Ms. 
Hoff said the Governor appointed Chair Medicine White Crow to serve for one more year and 
Frankie Manning, Council Vice-Chair, to serve for two more years. She said the Governor 
appointed Dr. Benjamin Danielson to serve as the Council Chair for a three-year term. Moving 
forward, the Governor-appointed positions would serve three-year terms and be staggered to help 
ensure continuity. Ms. Hoff directed Council members to two letters of support for the Northwest 
Portland Area Indian Health Board and the Skokomish Tribe (on file at Tab 4). She provided an 
update on the Council’s work to promote equity in state government, including that she would be 
meeting with Results Washington staff to discuss the possibility of creating new equity measures. 
Council members discussed the need for disaggregated data for all Results Washington indicators.  

 
 
5. BRIEFING-ACCESS TO DENTAL HEALTHCARE 

Member Crockrell introduced Dr. Charissa Fotinos Deputy Chief Medical Officer for the Health 
Care Authority. Dr. Fotinos said there is room for improvement with access to oral health services 
and gave her presentation (on file at Tab 5). She reviewed Apple Health dental program benefits and 
shared data on enrollment and utilization for adults and children. She shared national data on 
disparities in oral health and said the program lacks data on dental care utilization by race/ethnicity. 
She highlighted a number of barriers to accessing services including, low-reimbursement rate for 
providers, practice configurations, financing of dental care, and scope of practice concerns.  
 
Member Nandi asked how the state could increase the reimbursement rate for providers and there 
was a discussion about the need for more revenue to pay for essential programs. Member Crockrell 
asked about barriers to implementing the Dental Health Aide Therapist model. Dr. Fotinos said 
there were concerns about scope of practice, but highlighted that Minnesota and the Swinomish 
Tribe have implemented programs. Member Kutz highlighted inexpensive services, including topical 

mailto:wsboh@doh.wa.gov


Governor’s Interagency Council on Health Disparities 
Draft Minutes – September 15, 2016 
 

  

 
PO Box 47990 • Olympia, Washington • 98504-7990 

Phone: 360/236-4110 • Fax: 360/236-4088 • Email: wsboh@doh.wa.gov • Web: www.sboh.wa.gov 

3 

fluoride, sealants, and hygienist cleaning. He suggested that all dentists have automatic credentials. 
He also suggested outreach to dentists to raise awareness that they could see Apple Health clients 
without having to accept all Apple Health clients that seek care. Greg Williamson, Council Member, 
asked for data broken out for children less than 1 year, as well as for children ages 1-5 years.   
  
 

6. BRIEFING-DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES OFFICE OF DIVERSITY 
AND INCLUSION 
Marietta Bobba, Council Member, introduced Rex Brown, Director of Business Diversity for the 
Department of Social and Health Services, who provided information on DSHS’s efforts to increase 
business with minority-owned, women-owned, and veteran owned businesses. He shared the 
agency’s goals for supplier diversity as well as accomplishments. He said they have plans to improve 
measurement, to increase community engagement and collaboration, and to conduct a business 
diversity forum. Member Kutz asked if they look at disparities in the delivery of social services and 
Mr. Brown said it is a part of their charter.  
 
 

7. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Chair Medicine White Crow announced that she was going to transition to the public comment 
period and read from a prepared statement (on file). She referred Council members to written 
testimony submitted (on file at Tab 7). 
 
Alan Ratcliff, Pierce County Community Health Alliance, provided information on the Alliance. 
Formed in 2014, it addresses healthcare disparities. He discussed the link between healthcare 
excellence and diversity in the healthcare workforce. He said they are currently trying to get data on 
race/ethnicity for healthcare executives, managers, staff, and providers at CHI-Franciscan and 
MultiCare. He said they have not received the data. They request the Council and the Health Care 
Authority consider three actions: (1) require health systems to publically share aggregated data 
describing the racial/ethnic makeup of their executives, managers, staff, providers, and patients; (2) 
require health systems to implement cultural competency training programs; and (3) require health 
systems employ and retain executives, managers, staff, and providers who reflect the racial/ethnic 
makeup of the communities they serve. In addition, he said the Pierce County Accountable 
Community of Health is invisible to the wider public. He expressed the voices of underserved 
communities need to be heard. 

 
Cathy Tashiro, retired faculty, UW Tacoma Nursing and Leadership Program, said she felt 
compelled to follow up on the Council’s earlier conversation regarding data. She said it is extremely 
important to have people self-identify and that people who identify as two or more races should 
have the opportunity to do so. She said race is socially constructed so self-identification is important 
and we need to get over the discomfort about asking about it. She added that we need real training 
and real conversations about race. She also stressed the need to disaggregate Asian Pacific Islander 
populations because there are such wide differences in health among subgroups. 
 
Millie Piazza, Council Member, acknowledged the public comment received from Friends of 
Toppenish Creek. Ms. Hoff added that she sent the documents to Council members via email and 
followed up with the response letter submitted by the Washington State Department of Agriculture. 

 
 
 

mailto:wsboh@doh.wa.gov
http://www.sboh.wa.gov/


 Governor’s Interagency Council on Health Disparities 
Draft Minutes – September 15, 2016 

 
 

 
PO Box 47990 • Olympia, Washington • 98504-7990 

Phone: 360/236-4110 • Fax: 360/236-4088 • Email: wsboh@doh.wa.gov • Web: healthequity.wa.gov  

4  

8. DISCUSSION—EQUITY RELATED DECISION PACKAGES 
Chair Medicine White Crow referred Council members to the memo at Tab 8. She said the Council’s 
current priority is to promote equity in state government and said it was important that equity is 
considered in the state’s budget. She asked Council members representing state agencies to provide 
summaries of their agencies’ decision packages that they believe will work to promote equity.  
 
Member Williamson shared information on the Department of Early Learning’s proposals to 
implement training and monitoring for license-exempt providers; to continue phased 
implementation of the Early Childhood Education and Assistance Program; to protect at-risk 
families with home visiting services; to eliminate subsidized childcare waitlists; and to safeguard 
services in the Early Childhood Intervention and Prevention Services program. He also shared 
information on a multi-agency proposal to create a new prenatal-age 3 system.  
 
Member Kutz said the State Board of Health is asking for funding to increase capacity for Health 
Impact Reviews. He said Health Impact Reviews are an important tool for proactively considering 
equity impacts of proposed legislation.   
 
Diane Klontz, Council Member, shared information on the Department of Commerce’s decision 
packages to end homelessness, to preserve the affordable housing stock in the Housing Trust Fund, 
and to increase lead based paint certification fees to better enforce compliance.  
 
Member Bobba shared three proposals from the Department of Social and Health Services. The first 
was from the Aging and Long Term Support Administration to continue the Tribal Kinship 
Navigator program. The second was for the Behavioral Health Administration’s proposal to co-host 
a tribal conference focused on alcohol and substance abuse prevention. The final was for the 
Behavioral Health Administration’s proposal to establish a fee-for-service behavioral health system 
and an evaluation and treatment facility for American Indian and Alaska Native populations.  
 
Member Nandi shared the Department of Health’s proposals to investigate pesticide exposures,  to 
expand the HIV intervention program by increasing financial eligibility requirements and targeting 
case efforts toward populations with health disparities, and to implement the National Standards for 
Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services, including language assistance services.  
 
Lori Wada, Council Member, shared the Commission on Asian Pacific American Affair’s decision 
package to conduct a needs assessment of more than a dozen Asian American and Pacific Islander 
communities across the state. The assessment will inform agencies and policymakers about the 
unique needs of those communities in order to improve equity and access to services.  
 
Mona Johnson, Council Member, shared information about the Office of Superintendent of Public 
Instruction’s plan to fully fund basic education for all students. She said the Superintendent sees it as 
an equity related decision package because every student should have access to quality education.  
 
Motion: The Council endorses all of the equity-related decision packages discussed on September 15, 2016 and asks 
the Chair to send a letter to Governor Inslee encouraging him to include those decision packages in his 2017-2019 
biennial budget proposal to the Legislature.  
Motion/Second: Stephen Kutz/Frankie Manning. Approved unanimously. 

 
 
 

mailto:wsboh@doh.wa.gov


Governor’s Interagency Council on Health Disparities 
Draft Minutes – September 15, 2016 
 

  

 
PO Box 47990 • Olympia, Washington • 98504-7990 

Phone: 360/236-4110 • Fax: 360/236-4088 • Email: wsboh@doh.wa.gov • Web: www.sboh.wa.gov 

5 

9. DISCUSSION—COUNCIL SUCCESS STORIES 
Chair Medicine White Crow postponed this discussion for a future meeting.  

 
 
10. RESOLUTION 2016-01 GWENDOLYN SHEPHERD RECOGNITION 

Chair Medicine White Crow referred Council members to the resolution (on file at Tab 10) and read 
it aloud. She said it was her honor to work with Ms. Shepherd, who gave so much to ensure all 
people who were not at the table had a voice. She added that she valued her perspective and her 
commitment to inclusivity. Vice Chair Manning said she was an engaging person and that she will 
remember her for her presence of mind, thoughtful questions, and commitment to community.  
 
Motion: The Council approves Resolution 2016-01, honoring Gwendolyn Shepherd for her service to the Governor’s 
Interagency Council on Health Disparities as presented on September 15, 2016.  
Motion/Second: Stephen Kutz/Greg Williamson. Approved unanimously. 
 
 

11. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS AND UPDATES 
Chair Medicine White Crow said this was an opportunity for Council members to share any updates 
and announcements. 
 
Member Kutz suggested the Council might want to discuss the Governor’s Blue Ribbon 
Commission on Children and Families and its responsibility for recommending an organizational 
structure for a new department. He said the Council might want to provide recommendations to the 
Governor about principles that the new department ought to embrace.  
 
Vice Chair Manning said she was very pleased with the Council’s June 2016 Update report—in 
terms of both how it looked and how it read. She said she recently returned from a trip to Cuba and 
wanted to share some observations. She said the literacy rate is 98% and there has not been a 
stillborn since 2001. The infant mortality rate in Cuba is 4.7%, while ours is much higher. She 
suggested we could learn much from Cuba. She also shared information about the Harmony Hill 
Retreat Center, which provides support for cancer survivors. She said people of color do not tend to 
take advantage of support services and we should encourage them to do so. She shared that the 
Seattle/King County Clinic would take place on October 27-30 at KeyArena and last year’s clinic 
served more than 4,500 people with medical, dental, and vision care.  
 
Member Crockrell shared information about a recent Race the Power of an Illusion Training. She 
said there were attendees from seven agencies and each agency team strategized how to incorporate 
equity into their work. She said final regulations regarding Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act 
were issued, which prohibit discrimination, adding that the Department of Health and Human 
Services will be enforcing the rules strictly.  

 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Chair Medicine White Crow adjourned the meeting at 5:01 p.m. 
 

mailto:wsboh@doh.wa.gov
http://www.sboh.wa.gov/

